# **Community Health Assessment**

### Marion County, Oregon 2016 Update





Marion County Health Department 3180 Center St NE, Salem, OR 97301 503-588-5357 http://www.co.marion.or.us/HLT

# **Table of Contents**

| Executive Summary        | 3  |
|--------------------------|----|
| Demographics             | 4  |
| Socioeconomics           | 6  |
| Injury Prevention/Safety | 10 |
| Maternal & Child Health  | 12 |
| Health Behaviors         | 22 |
| Communicable Disease     | 24 |
| Acknowledgments          | 30 |
| Glossary                 | 32 |
| References               | 33 |

# **Executive Summary**

This report contains only the most updated demographic, socioeconomic and health data for Marion County. Not all data sources are updated each year. If there was no new data available for an indicator after the original posting date of the comprehensive Community Health Assessment, that indicator does not appear in this update. Also missing from this document are the methodologies used to create the comprehensive Community Health Assessment click here: http://www.co.marion.or.us/HLT/communityassessments

Based on data from the 2015 Community Health Assessment, Marion County Health Department in partnership with Polk County Health Department and the Coordinated Care Organization completed a more detailed assessment of availability of health services and barriers present in the community that prevent access to health care services. The Health Care Access Assessment can be found here under the Topic Specific tab: http://www.co.marion.or.us/HLT/communityassessments#swapTabTop

Based on increasing rates of reportable Sexually Transmitted Infections (STIs) in Marion County, the Marion County completed a comprehensive STI Assessment detailing the burden of disease in specific populations, as well as risk factors for disease. The Sexually Transmitted Infection Assessment can be found here under the Topic Specific tab: <u>http://www.co.marion.or.us/HLT/communityassessments#swapTabTop</u>

\*It is important to note that the majority of the data presented in this report are publicly available data sets that individuals must elect to provide. While it is adjusted, weighted, and combined as necessary to provide the most accurate picture of health possible, it is likely that certain groups of people are not fully represented by these numbers. While the report strives to use the most reliable and valid data available; it is important to acknowledge some groups of people are less likely to participate in data collection experiences, certain types of information are more personal and less likely to be reported, and data collection methods can vary between organizations.

### **Demographics**

Demographics of a community identify and define who lives in a particular community at any given time. Demographic information helps to set the context for health indicators because different groups of people experience greater risk for disease. For example, based on national statistics we know that the highest risk group for Chlamydia is women aged 20-24. Therefore, knowing that Marion County has a younger population than Oregon as a whole could lead us to believe that Marion County will have higher Chlamydia rates than the state as a whole.

#### Key Demographic Findings for Marion County:

- Marion County has a larger percent of residents under 25 than Oregon.
- Marion County has a larger percent of residents that identify as Hispanic/Latino than Oregon.
- Marion County has a larger percent of residents that speak a language other than English at home than Oregon.
- A third of the Marion County population lives outside of the five largest cities in Marion County.

**Population:** In 2015, the population of Marion County was estimated to be 330,700. Marion County makes up about 8.2% of Oregon's population. Marion County's population has increased by 4.7% since 2010.<sup>1</sup>

**Race/Ethnicity:** It is possible that a certain race or ethnic group may experience disease rates at a higher or lower rate than a different race or ethnic group.

Marion County has a lower percent of White residents than Oregon, but a higher percent of White residents than the United States. Marion County has a higher percent of residents that identify as Hispanic, and Native Hawaiian/Pacific Islander than Oregon overall.<sup>1</sup>



Language Spoken at Home: Inability to speak, read or understand English can present barriers to seeking, accessing, and receiving necessary health care and other services.

Marion County has a larger percent of residents that speak a language other than English at home than Oregon and the United States. The three main languages spoken in Marion County are English, Spanish and other Indo-European languages.<sup>2</sup>



**Veteran Status:** During service, military personnel often experience higher rates of exposure to adverse environmental factors that can increase risk for chronic health conditions and/or disability.

Marion County has a larger percentage of residents that are veterans than Oregon and the United States.<sup>3</sup>



### **Socioeconomics**

Socioeconomic factors may determine fiscal earning power of individuals which, in turn, can increase access to supports that lead to a healthy lifestyle such as access to health care, healthy foods, safe housing and safe places to exercise. Social determinants of health are the circumstances in which people are born, grow up, live, work and age and the systems put in place to deal with illness (World Health Organization). These circumstances are then shaped by economics, social policy and politics.

#### Key Socioeconomic Findings for Marion County:

- Marion County residents have a lower median household income than Oregon residents and Americans in general.
- A larger percent of Marion County residents (especially residents under 18) live below the federal poverty level than Oregon residents and Americans in general.
- A smaller percent of Marion County residents have attended college than Oregon residents and United States residents.

**Median Household Income:** Median household income can indicate access to supports that promote health such as health insurance, healthy food, and gym memberships. Income may also support higher educational attainment, which is also positively associated with better health outcomes.

Marion County has a lower median household income (\$47,360) than both Oregon (\$50,521) and the United States (\$53,482).<sup>4</sup>



**Poverty:** Those living below the federal poverty level may be more likely than those living above the federal poverty level to rely on public health insurance and food stamps to receive health care and feed their families.





**Unemployment:** Like income, unemployment also indicates lack of access to supports that promote positive health behaviors such as health insurance and a safe, clean place to live.

Marion County has a higher unemployment rate than Oregon and the United States.<sup>4</sup>



**Single-Parent Households:** Single-parent households may be more likely to live in poverty than two-parent household. This could mean that individuals living in single-parent households may lack access to supports that promote health and well-being.

Marion County has a larger percent of single parent households than the United States and Oregon. A larger percent of single parent households in Marion County are headed by women (13.7%) than men (5.4%).<sup>4</sup>



**Educational Attainment:** Educational attainment can be indicative of income earning power. Higher educational attainment is associated with better health outcomes.

Marion County has a higher percent of residents that did not complete high school than Oregon and the United States. Marion County has a lower percent of residents with a college degree or higher than Oregon and the United States.<sup>5</sup> In 2014, only 74.3%<sup>6</sup> of Marion County high school students graduated from high school in four years. Although the 2014 rate is up from the 2010 rate (64.6%), the most recent data remains short of the Healthy People 2020 goal of 82.4% four year graduation rate. It is important to note that this percentage does not include the percent of people in Marion County who graduated from high school in more than four years, so the overall educational attainment of high school degrees and above is higher than the four year high school graduation rate.



3<sup>rd</sup> Grade Reading Proficiency: Reading proficiency during third grade is a good indicator for future school success, high school graduation and improved life outcomes.



A smaller percent of Marion County third graders are considered proficient readers than Oregon third graders.<sup>7</sup>

**Homelessness:** Each year, Mid-Willamette Valley Community Action Agency in Marion and Polk Counties partner with community based organizations to survey and outreach to the homeless community. The information below displays both Marion and Polk combined data.

#### Based on results from the 2015 Homeless Survey<sup>8</sup>:

- The majority of people surveyed were single adults without children (80%).
- About two thirds of the people surveyed were male (67%).
- The majority of people surveyed were White (89%).
- About 1/3 of people (31%) said they have been homeless for 1-3 years.
- The four most common responses given as reason for homelessness were that the individuals "Unemployed" (41%), "Could not afford rent" (23%), "Homeless by choice" (17%), and "Mental or Emotional Disorder" (16%).
- The two main things respondents believe would improve their current situation were affordable housing and a job/income source

# **Injury Prevention/Safety**

Both unintentional and intentional injuries are among the top 15 causes of death for Americans of all ages and are the top cause of death for Americans under the age of 45. Injuries are the leading cause of disability at all ages, regardless of sex, race/ethnicity or socioeconomic status. While some accidents are unavoidable, many events that result in injury, disability or death are predictable and preventable.

#### Key Injury Prevention/Safety Findings for Marion County:

- Men die at higher rates from injuries than women.
- The main causes of injury death are: falls, poisoning and motor vehicle accidents.
- Persons who identify as White, non-Hispanic are almost twice as likely to die of accidental injury as individuals who identify as Hispanic.

**Violent Crime Rate:** The violent crime rate is a good indicator of community safety. Violent crimes include murder, assault, kidnapping, robbery, rape and other sex crimes.

The violent crime rate in Marion County decreased between 2008 and 2012 but has increased since 2012 and is higher than Oregon's violent crime rate.<sup>9</sup>



**Child Abuse Rate:** This indicator shows the number of children less than 18 years of age that experienced abuse (physical, sexual and emotional) or neglect per 1,000 children. Children who experience abuse and/or neglect can have enduring physical and psychological issues into adolescence and adulthood.

Child abuse rates in Marion County decreased between 2012 and 2014 but increased in 2015. Marion County has a lower child abuse rate than Oregon as whole but has not met the Healthy People 2020 goal. <sup>10,</sup> Error! Bookmark not defined.



# **Maternal & Child Health**

Healthy moms and healthy infants ensure a healthy start to the next generation. Therefore, health indicators outlining the health of the youngest community members are of the utmost importance.

#### Key Maternal & Child Health Findings for Marion County:

- Gestational diabetes prevalence has been increasing steadily since 2008.
- The percent of moms who receive first trimester prenatal care has been increasing since 2008.
- Tobacco use during pregnancy, while still high in Marion County has been decreasing since 2008.

**Birth Rate:** The birth rate gives an idea about the number of people added to the community population each year. The birth rate includes all live births to women between the ages of 10-49 during a calendar year.

Marion County has a higher birth rate than Oregon. The birth rates for both Marion County and Oregon have been decreasing since 2010.<sup>11</sup>



Women in certain age groups are at higher risk for birth complications. Teens and women over 35 are more likely to have higher risk pregnancies than women between the ages of 20-34.<sup>12</sup>



Marion County has a higher teen birth rate than Oregon. Oregon has a higher rate of births to mothers over 35 than Marion County.<sup>11</sup>

High birth rates among a population determine the rate at which that population is growing. In Marion County, the group with the highest birth rate is the Hispanic community.<sup>11</sup>



**Low Birth Weight Infants:** Low birth weight infants are defined as infants born weighing less than 2,500 grams or 5 pounds 8 ounces. Low birth weight infants may have more health problems than infants of normal weight. There are several possible risk factors for having a low birth weight infant. A few examples include smoking, drinking alcohol, stress and exposure to air pollution. <sup>13</sup> Starting prenatal care during the first three months of pregnancy can help to prevent having a low birth weight infant.

Marion County has a slightly lower percent of low birth weight infants than Oregon.<sup>14</sup> Marion County and Oregon have already achieved the Healthy People 2020 goal for percentage of low birth weight infants.<sup>15</sup>



Mothers in Marion County with the highest percent of low birth weight infants are between 18-19 years old and 40-44 years old.<sup>14,15</sup>



Mothers who identify as African American/Black in Marion County have a larger percentage of low birth weight infants than mothers who identify as White, Hispanic, or Asian/Pacific Islander.<sup>14, 15</sup>



**Gestational Diabetes:** Pregnant women who are diagnosed with diabetes for the first time, while they are pregnant have gestational diabetes. Uncontrolled diabetes during pregnancy can cause problems for both the mother and baby. Poorly managed gestational diabetes can increase the newborn's risk of breathing problems as well as obesity in adulthood. A healthy diet and regular exercise may control the diabetes, but some women will need to take insulin.

The percent of women with gestational diabetes has been about the same in Marion County since 2010. A larger percent of Marion County women have gestational diabetes than Oregon women.<sup>14</sup>





The percent of women with gestational diabetes increases with the mother's age in Marion County.<sup>14</sup>

In Marion County, a larger percentage of women who identify as Hispanic, Asian/Pacific Islander, or African American have gestational diabetes than women who identify as White.<sup>14</sup>



**Prenatal Care:** Women who start prenatal care during the first trimester of their pregnancy are at lower risk for low birth weight infants, pre-term births and other birth complications.



The percent of Marion County women who receive first trimester prenatal care decreased between 2013 and 2014. This is the first trimester prenatal care has decreased since before 2008.<sup>14, 15</sup>

In Marion County, a lower percentage of women under the age of 25 receive first trimester prenatal care than pregnant women aged 25 and older.<sup>14</sup> Only women 25 years and older have met the Healthy People 2020 target for first trimester prenatal care.<sup>15</sup>



In Marion County, a larger percentage of women in Marion County who identify as White receive first trimester prenatal care than women who identify as Hispanic, Asian/Pacific Islander, American Indian/Alaska Native or African American.<sup>14</sup> Only women who identify as White are meeting the Healthy People 2020 goal.<sup>15</sup>

This may indicate that women who identify as a race/ethnicity other than White are more likely to have low birth weight infants, pre-term births or other birth complications.



**Tobacco Use during Pregnancy:** Smoking during pregnancy can increase the risk of giving birth to a low birth weight infant.

The percentage of women who smoke during pregnancy increased between 2013 and 2014 for the first time since before 2008. The percentage of Marion County and Oregon women who smoke during pregnancy is about the same.<sup>14</sup> Neither Marion County nor Oregon meets the tobacco use during pregnancy Healthy People 2020 goal (1.4%).<sup>15</sup>



In Marion County, women aged 20-24 years represented the highest percentage of women that smoked during pregnancy.<sup>14</sup> None of the age groups in Marion County have achieved the Healthy People 2020 goal.<sup>15</sup>



In Marion County, a larger percentage of women who identify as American Indian/Alaska Native, African American/Black , or White smoke during their pregnancy than women who identify as Hispanic or Asian/Pacific Islander.<sup>14, 15</sup>



19

**Pre-term Births:** Pre-term birth, defined as a birth before 37 weeks of pregnancy, is the leading cause of long-term neurological disabilities in children in the United States. Poverty, infection during pregnancy, high blood pressure, tobacco use, alcohol use, substance abuse, high levels of stress and late prenatal care are all associated with increased risk of pre-term birth.

Marion County and Oregon have about the same percentage of pre-term births. The overall trend in the percentage of pre-term births has remained about the same and is below the Healthy People 2020 goal. <sup>14, 15</sup>



In Marion County, mothers between the ages of 15-17 and mothers aged 40 and older had the highest percentage of pre-term births.<sup>14, 15</sup>





Mothers who identify as Asian/Pacific Islander or American Indian/Alaska Native have a higher percentage of preterm births than mothers who identify as White or Hispanic.<sup>14,15</sup>

## **Health Behaviors**

Genetics, social circumstances, environmental exposures and health care are all factors that impact health. In the case of health behaviors, a fifth factor, individuals can take steps to help ensure that they live healthier and longer lives. Some of these steps include: avoiding tobacco and excessive alcohol consumption, maintaining a healthy weight with physical activity and healthy food choices, and receiving the recommended health screenings.

#### Key Health Behavior Findings for Marion County:

- A little over 50% of Marion County adults 50-75 years of age are up to date on their colon cancer screening.
- The Marion County Hispanic teen pregnancy rate in 2013 (<30 per 1,000 15-17 year old females) has been cut in half since 2008 (>60 per 1,000 15-17 year old females).
- A larger percentage of Marion County residents (32.7%) are considered to be obese than Oregon residents (25.9%).

**Modifiable Risk Factors-Teen Pregnancy:** Teen childbearing has consequences for the parents, their child and society. The teen mother is "less likely to finish high school, more likely to rely on public assistance; more likely to be poor as an adult; and more likely to have children who have poorer educational, behavioral, and health outcomes over the course of their lives than do kids born to older parents."<sup>16</sup> As mentioned earlier in this document, income and educational attainment are linked to health care access and opportunities for nutrition and physical activity necessary to achieve and maintain health.

The Marion County teen pregnancy rate has been decreasing since 2008. The Hispanic Marion County teen pregnancy rate is about four times higher that the White Marion County teen pregnancy rate.<sup>14</sup> Both Marion County and Oregon have achieved the Healthy People 2020 goal for teen pregnancy.<sup>15</sup>



#### **Modifiable Risk Factors-Percent of Alcohol Impaired Driving Deaths:**

Alcohol impaired driving deaths are more likely to involve young adult drivers (21-24) than older drivers (25 and older). Community based approaches to alcohol control and prevention of alcohol impaired driving along with sobriety checkpoints and ignition interlocks for people with a history of impaired driving are effective measures to prevent injuries and deaths from drunk driving.<sup>17</sup>

A higher percent of Marion County driving deaths are related to alcohol than Oregon driving deaths.<sup>17</sup>



Marijuana in Marion County: Oregon's Medical Marijuana Program tracks individuals who have

medical marijuana cards as well as their caregivers; marijuana growers and marijuana grow sites. The administrative rules and legal information govern who can have a card, grow, and dispense marijuana. The number of medical marijuana patients has decreased since the legalization of recreational marijuana.<sup>18</sup>

| Marijuana by numbers: April 2016 |
|----------------------------------|
| 3,770 patients                   |
| 2,146 growers                    |
| 1,565 grow sites                 |

## **Communicable Disease**

Communicable or infectious diseases differ from chronic diseases because they can pass from human to human or from animals to humans. Globally, there has been a reduction in infectious disease mortality over the last century due largely to immunization, but also drinking water and food regulation. Despite these advances, infectious disease remains a major cause of illness, disability and death worldwide. For each birth cohort in the United States, the recommended childhood vaccine series saves 33,000 lives, prevents 14 million cases of disease, reduces direct health care costs by \$9.9 billion, and saves \$33.4 billion in indirect costs. Unfortunately, about 42,000 adults and 300 children die each year in the United States from vaccine preventable diseases. Disease-specific information in this section comes from the Control of Communicable Diseases Manual reference used by public health departments across the nation.<sup>19</sup>

#### Key Communicable Disease Findings for Marion County:

- Pertussis incidence rates are increasing in Marion County. (9.8 per 100,000 in 2011 to 19.4 per 100,000 in 2015).
- Syphilis incidence rates are increasing in Marion County. (1.3 per 100,000 in 2011 to 21.8 per 100,000 in 2015).
- Childhood immunization rates are decreasing in Marion County. (64.3% up-to-date 2 year olds in 2010 to 57.0% up-to-date 2 year olds in 2014).

**Salmonella Incidence Rate:** Salmonella is a bacterium that makes people sick. Most people with salmonella have diarrhea, fever, and abdominal cramping that lasts 4-7 days. Most people recover without treatment however, in some cases diarrhea is so severe it requires hospitalization. In rare cases the infection can spread to the blood stream and other body sites. This can be deadly if the person is not treated with antibiotics quickly. Older adults, infants and people with compromised immune systems are more likely to have severe infections. Ways to avoid salmonella are to cook all poultry, ground beef and eggs thoroughly. Avoid consuming raw eggs or unpasteurized mild. Wash hands, kitchen counters and utensils after they have been in contact with raw meat. Wash hands thoroughly after handling reptiles and birds.<sup>20</sup>

Salmonella incidence rates increased in both Marion County and Oregon between 2014 and 2015.<sup>21</sup> In Marion County, the incidence rate increase could be due to the outbreaks where salmonella was named as the etiologic agent as well as increasing mass food production and rising global temperatures that support bacterial proliferation.



**Pertussis Incidence Rate:** Pertussis, also known as Whooping Cough, is caused by highly contagious bacteria that infect the respiratory track. Pertussis can result in serious illness and sometimes death, especially in infants younger than six months. In older persons who have been vaccinated, the illness may be milder. Pertussis is considered a vaccine-preventable disease and a complete vaccine series is recommended for young children. As immunity may wane or decrease over time, a one-time booster dose is recommended for persons who are middle-school aged or older.<sup>22</sup>

Marion County has been experiencing an increase in pertussis incidence since 2009.<sup>21</sup> Increasing pertussis rates may be partially related to the reduced effectiveness of the acelluar vaccine that is currently in use (DTaP and Tdap) compared with the previous whole-cell vaccines, as well as decreasing vaccination rates among children and adults.



**Tuberculosis Incidence Rate:** Tuberculosis (often called TB) is a bacterial disease that can occur in various organs of the body. Whether a person is contagious depends upon the site of his or her disease. TB disease most commonly affects the lungs, which means that the person with TB may spread the infection to others through coughing. Tuberculosis requires treatment with antibiotics and can lead to death if not treated. With the availability of adequate treatment, the rate of new cases of TB in the United States has decreased from 52.6 in 1956 to 3 cases per 100,000 in 2013.<sup>23</sup>

This graph shows new cases of active TB disease for Marion County and Oregon. The overall tuberculosis incidence trend for Marion County and Oregon has remained stable since 2011 except a peak in 2013. In 2015, Marion County had about the same tuberculosis incidence rate (1.8 per 100,000) as Oregon (1.9 cases per 100,000).<sup>21</sup>



**Chlamydia Incidence Rate:** Chlamydia is a sexually transmitted bacterial infection that often causes no symptoms. If untreated in women, the infection can lead to infertility and other problems. Infection during pregnancy can result in eye and lung infections in the newborn.<sup>24</sup>

Marion County has a higher Chlamydia incidence rate (517.4 per 100,000) than Oregon (405.9 per 100,000).<sup>21</sup>



26

**Gonorrhea Incidence Rate:** Gonorrhea is a sexually transmitted bacterial infection. Untreated infection in men and women can lead to complications, including infertility. Risk of HIV infection is increased when a person is already infected with gonorrhea.<sup>25</sup>

Gonorrhea incidence rates in Marion County and Oregon are increasing rapidly. In 2015, Marion County had about the same gonorrhea incidence rate (76.2 cases per 100,000) as Oregon (80.5 per 100,000).<sup>21</sup>



**Syphilis (All Stages) Incidence Rate:** Syphilis is a sexually transmitted bacterial infection. The illness progresses in stages. Pregnant women may transmit the infection to their fetus with a high risk that the baby will be stillborn or have other serious health problems. Persons who are not treated may develop late stage syphilis, including nervous system problems.<sup>26</sup>

Syphilis incidence rates for both Marion County and the state of Oregon have been increasing since 2009.<sup>21</sup>The goal of Healthy People 2020 is to lower the incidence of Syphilis to 1.3 cases per 100,000 for females and 6.7 cases per 100,000 for males.<sup>27</sup> Neither Marion County nor Oregon has achieved the Healthy People 2020 goal.



**HIV Incidence Rate:** HIV (Human Immunodeficiency Virus) is a virus that attacks specific cells in the immune system. Over time, HIV can destroy so many of these cells that the body cannot fight off other diseases. At that point, HIV infection leads to AIDS (Acquired Immunodeficiency Syndrome). At this time there is no safe, effective cure for HIV, so once infected, you will have HIV for life.<sup>28</sup>

The overall trend in HIV incidence has been decreasing in Marion County. In 2014, Marion County had about the same HIV incidence rate (3.3 per 100,000) as Oregon (3.6 per 100,000).<sup>21</sup>



**Immunization Rates:** Oregon requires certain immunizations for children in school and child care. The purpose of the immunization requirements is to protect everyone in a population from vaccine preventable diseases. If enough people are immunized, herd immunity can be achieved. This means enough people have been are immune that it is unlikely the disease will spread.

A lower percent of two year olds are fully immunized in Marion County than in Oregon. A lower percent of two year olds were fully immunized in 2014 (57.0%) than were immunized in 2010 (64.3%).<sup>29</sup> Neither Marion County nor Oregon has accomplished the Healthy People 2020 immunization goal.<sup>30</sup> Two year olds are considered to be fully immunized with: 4 doses of DTaP, 3 doses of IPV, 1 dose of MMR, 3 doses of Hib, 3 doses of HepB, 1 dose of Varicella and 4 doses of PCV. This series of immunizations protect children from diphtheria, tetanus, pertussis, polio, measles, mumps, rubella, haemophilus influenza type b, hepatitis B, chicken pox and pneumonia.



Adolescents are considered to have a complete vaccination record with: 1 dose Tdap, 1 dose MCV, and 3 doses HPV. This series of vaccinations protects adolescents against tetanus, diphtheria, pertussis, meningitis, and human pappilomavirus.

Marion County and Oregon have about the same percent of vaccinated adolescents. Both Marion County and Oregon have achieved the Healthy People goal for the adolescent Tdap vaccine rate but have not achieved the Healthy People goal for the meningococcal or HPV vaccines.<sup>29,30</sup>



### Acknowledgments

This Community Health Assessment would not have been possible without the support of the following individuals/organizations: 50+, Afton Sullivan (Polk County Public Health), Alinna Ghavami (Polk County Family & Community Outreach: Healthy Communities), Amanda Stevens (Polk County Public Health), Andy Casqueiro (Willamette Valley Providers Health Authority), Angie Docherty (Oregon Health & Sciences University School of Nursing), Anytime Fitness, Arielle LeVeaux (Polk County Public Health), Arturo Vargas (United Way of the Mid-Willamette Valley), Aumsville City Hall, Aurora City Hall, Batisse Wilson (Willamette Valley Community Health Community Advisory Council), Bill Bouska (Oregon Health Authority), Bill Guest (Willamette Valley Providers Health Authority), Caroline Larsen (Willamette Valley Community Health Community Advisory Council), Central School District, Chemeketa Community College, City of Donald, City of Mt. Angel, City of Scotts Mills City Hall, City of Sublimity, Colonia Libertad, Connie Lu (Marion County Public Health), Courthouse Fitness, Dallas Chamber of Commerce, Dallas Senior Center, Dallas School District, Department of Human Services, Detroit Post Office, Diana Dickey (Marion County Public Health), Early Learning Hub, Inc., Edgewater Partnership, Emily de Hayr (Marion County Public Health), Family YMCA of Marion and Polk Counties, Gail Saxowsky (Polk County Advisory Board), Geoffrey Carpenter (Americorps VISTA), Georgia Wilson (Oregon State University Extension), HALO, Jeanine Stice (Willamette Valley Providers Health Authority), Jefferson School District, Jessica Watson (Oregon Health & Sciences University School of Nursing), Jim Sapienza (West Valley Hospital), Jon Reeves (Mid-Willamette Valley Community Action Agency), Julia Humphreville (Marion County Public Health), Judith Morehead (Polk County Behavioral Health), Kacie Prado (Polk County Public Health), Kaiser Permanente, Kaitlyn Muller (Marion County Public Health), Katarina Ost (Marion County Public Health), Katrina Rothenberger (Polk County Public Health), Kristen Buchanan (Polk County Public Health), Kristin Jordan (Salem Health), Lauren Benjamin (Santiam Hospital), Lena Stadelmann (Marion County Public Health), Lyndsie Schwarz (Marion County Public Health), Mackenzie Lafferty (Polk County Public Health), Margie Lowe (Early Learning Hub, Inc.), Marybeth Beall (Willamette Valley Community Health Community Advisory Council), Matthew Stevenson (Polk County Family & Community Outreach: Tobacco Prevention Education), Marion County Health Advisory Board, Marion County Board of Commissioners, Marion County Health Department, Melinda Veliz (Silverton Health), Mid-Willamette Valley Community Action Agency, Mill City Library, Mill City Crisis Center, Missy Allison (Marion County Public Health), Monmouth Independence Chamber of Commerce, Monmouth Library, Monmouth Senior Center, Mount Angel Abbey, Nancy Zoltner (Mid-Willamette Valley Community Action Agency), Northwest Senior Center, Northwest Senior and Disability Services, Nueva Amanacer, Oregon Child Development Coalition, Pam Cortez (West Valley Hospital), Pam Hutchinson (Marion County Public Health), Patty Vega (Marion County Public Health), Peter Davis (Marion County Public Health), Polk County Health Advisory Board, Polk County Behavioral Health, Polk County Family & Community Outreach, Polk County Health Department, Polk County Service Integration Team, Rachel Burdon (Kaiser Permanente), Rhoda Jantzi (Woodburn Pediatric Clinic), Salem Free Clinic, Salem Health, Salud, Salvation Army, Santiam Hospital, Santiam School District, Santiam Senior Center, Sara Campos (Marion County Public Health), Dr. Saucy, Scott Richards (Marion County Behavioral Health), Sharon Heuer (Salem Health), Silver Falls Library, Silverton Health, Silverton Together, St. Edwards Catholic Church, St. Paul School District, Stayton Library, Stuart Bradley (Willamette Valley Providers

Health Authority), Dr. Suzanne Deschamps (Kaiser Permanente), Tonya Johnson (Oregon State University Extension), Turner City Hall, Union Gospel Mission, United Way of the Mid-Willamette Valley, Vedika Chalise (Marion County Public Health), Verena Wessel (Northwest Human Services), West Salem Library. West Valley Hospital, Western Oregon University, Willamette University, Willamette Valley Community Health, Willamette Valley Community Health Clinical Advisory Panel, Willamette Valley Community Health Community Advisory Council, Willamette Valley Providers Health Authority, Woodburn Public Library, World Gym, and Yuritzy Glez (Woodburn Pediatric Clinic).

### Glossary

**Age-Adjusted Rates:** Age-adjusted rates allow you to compare event rates between two communities that have very different age distributions by standardizing both populations to the United States census population. This allows us to rule out that the difference in rates is due to age distribution in the community.

**Incidence Rate:** Describes the rate at which new illness enters the population over a specified time ((# of new cases of X)/(total population-those who cannot get disease X))

Mortality Rate: Describes the rate of death in a community over a specified time ((# of deaths)/(total population))

**Prevalence Rate:** Describes the burden of new and old cases of a specific disease over a specified time ((# of new cases + # of old cases )/(population))

**Healthy People 2020:** Healthy People provides science-based, ten year national objectives for improving the health of all Americans. Healthy People establishes benchmarks and monitors progress over time to: encourage collaboration across communities and sectors, empower individuals to make informed health decisions and measure the impact of prevention activities. Its mission is to: identify nationwide health benchmarks, increase public awareness and understanding of the determinants of health, disease and disability and the opportunities for progress, provide measurable objectives and goals that are applicable at national, state and local levels, engage multiple sectors to take actions to strengthen policies and improve practices that are driven by the best available evidence and knowledge, and to identify critical research, evaluation and data collection needs. Its overarching goals are to: attain high-quality, longer lives free of preventable disease, disability, injury and premature death, achieve health equity, eliminate disparities and improve the health of all groups, create social and physical environments that promote good health for all, and promote quality of life, healthy development and healthy behaviors across all stages of life.

### References

<sup>1</sup> United States Census Bureau: American Fact Finder Annual Estimates of the Resident Population April 1 2010 to July 1 2015 2015 Population Estimates.

<u>http://factfinder.census.gov/faces/tableservices/jsf/pages/productview.xhtml?pid=PEP\_2015\_PEPANNRES&prodType=table</u> (Viewed 4/29/16).

<sup>2</sup> United States Census Bureau: American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates Language Spoken at home by ability to speak English for the Population 5 years and over. (2010-2014).

<u>http://factfinder.census.gov/faces/tableservices/jsf/pages/productview.xhtml?pid=ACS\_14\_5YR\_S1601&prodType</u> <u>=table</u> (Viewed 5/9/16).

<sup>3</sup> United States Census Bureau: American Community Survey Veteran Status 2010-2014 American Community Survey 5- Year Estimates.

http://factfinder.census.gov/faces/tableservices/jsf/pages/productview.xhtml?pid=ACS\_14\_5YR\_S2101&prodType =table (Viewed 5/10/16).

<sup>4</sup> United States Census Bureau: American Community Survey Selected Economic Characteristics 2010-2014 5-Year Estimates (2016).

<u>http://factfinder.census.gov/faces/tableservices/jsf/pages/productview.xhtml?pid=ACS\_14\_5YR\_DP03&prodType</u> <u>=table</u> (Viewed 5/10/16).

<sup>5</sup> United States Census Bureau: American Community 2010-2014 American Community Survey 5 Year Estimates Educational Attainment (2016).

<u>http://factfinder.census.gov/faces/tableservices/jsf/pages/productview.xhtml?pid=ACS\_14\_5YR\_S1501&prodType</u> <u>=table</u> (Viewed 5/10/16).

<sup>6</sup> Kids County Data Center: Cohort Graduation Rate (2013-2014). <u>http://datacenter.kidscount.org/data/tables/7185-cohort-graduation-rate?loc=39&loct=2#detailed/5/5343-5378/false/1120,1024,937,809,1374/any/any</u> (Viewed 5/16/16).

<sup>7</sup> Kids Count Data Center: 3<sup>rd</sup> grade reading proficiency. (2013-2014).

http://datacenter.kidscount.org/data/Map/2551-3rd-grade-

readingproficiency?loc=39&loct=2#2/any/true/868/any/5306/ (Viewed 5/16/16).

<sup>8</sup> Mid-Willamette Valley Community Action Agency, Community Resource Program. (2015). 2015 Homeless County Report: Marion & Polk Counties.

http://www.mwvcaa.org/CRP/2015%20Marion%20Polk%20Counties%20Homeless%20Count%20Report.pdf (Viewed 5/16/16).

<sup>9</sup> Oregon State Police-Law Enforcement Data Systems. Oregon Annual Uniform Crime Reports. <u>http://www.oregon.gov/OSP/CJIS/Pages/annual\_reports.aspx</u> (Viewed 5/18/16).

<sup>10</sup> Oregon Department of Human Services: Children, Adults and Families Division: 2015 Child Welfare Data Book. (2016). <u>http://www.oregon.gov/DHS/CHILDREN/CHILD-ABUSE/Documents/2015-cw-data-book.pdf</u> (Viewed 5/19/16).

<sup>11</sup> Oregon Public Health Assessment Tool. Fertility Rates. <u>https://ophat.public.health.oregon.gov</u> (Viewed 5/19/16).
<sup>12</sup> National Institutes of Health: Eunice Kennedy Shriver National Institute of Child Health and Human Development. (2013). What are the factors that put a pregnancy at risk?

https://www.nichd.nih.gov/health/topics/high-risk/conditioninfo/pages/factors.aspx (Viewed 10/19/2015). <sup>13</sup> National Center for Environmental Health, Environmental Health Tracking Branch (2014).

http://ephtracking.cdc.gov/showRbLBWGrowthRetardationEnv.action (Viewed 8/6/2015).

<sup>14</sup> Oregon Public Health Assessment Tool. Birth Risk Factors. <u>https://ophat.public.health.oregon.gov</u> (Viewed 5/19/16).

<sup>15</sup> Healthy People 2020. 2020 Topics and Objectives: Maternal, Infant & Child. http://www.healthypeople.gov/2020/topicsobjectives2020/default (Viewed 8/24/15).

<sup>16</sup> US Department of Health & Human Services (2015).Reproductive health. Office of Adolescent Health. <u>http://www.hhs.gov/ash/oah/adolescent-health-topics/reproductive-health/teen-pregnancy/index.html</u> (Viewed 8/6/2015).

<sup>17</sup> Healthy Communities Institute: Salem Health. (2015). County Health Rankings, 2009-2013. Marion County Snapshot: Alcohol Impaired Driving Deaths. <u>http://www.salemhealth.org/about/community/community-health-needs-assessment/marion-county-community-snapshot</u> (Viewed 10/5/15).

<sup>18</sup> Oregon Health Authority: The Oregon Medical Marijuana Program. (2016). Statistical Snapshot April, 2016. <u>http://public.health.oregon.gov/DiseasesConditions/ChronicDisease/MedicalMarijuanaProgram/Documents/OMMP</u> %20Statistic-Snapshot-04-2016.pdf (Viewed 5/23/16).

<sup>19</sup> Heymann, D.L. (Ed.). (2015). *Control of communicable diseases manual* (20<sup>th</sup> ed.). Washington: American Public Health Association.

<sup>20</sup> CDC. (2015). Salmonella: Quick Tips for Preventing Salmonella.

http://www.cdc.gov/salmonella/general/prevention.html (Viewed 10/5/15).

<sup>21</sup> Oregon Health Authority. Annual Communicable Disease Summary Index.

http://public.health.oregon.gov/DiseasesConditions/CommunicableDisease/DiseaseSurveillanceData/AnnualReport <a href="http://www.seasesconditions/communicableDiseases/DiseaseSurveillanceData/AnnualReports/Pages/arpt.aspx">http://www.seasesConditions/CommunicableDisease/DiseaseSurveillanceData/AnnualReports/Pages/arpt.aspx</a> (Viewed 8/24/15).

<sup>22</sup> CDC. (2015). Pertussis (Whooping Cough). <u>http://www.cdc.gov/pertussis/</u> (Viewed 10/5/15).

<sup>23</sup> CDC. (2015). Tuberculosis. <u>http://www.cdc.gov/tb/statistics/tbcases.htm</u> (Viewed 10/5/15).

<sup>24</sup> CDC. (2014). Chlamydia – CDC Fact Sheet. <u>http://www.cdc.gov/std/chlamydia/stdfact-chlamydia.htm</u> (Viewed 10/5/15).

<sup>25</sup> CDC. (2014). Gonorrhea – CDC Fact Sheet. <u>http://www.cdc.gov/std/gonorrhea/stdfact-gonorrhea.htm</u> (Viewed 10/5/15).

<sup>26</sup> CDC. (2014). Syphilis – CDC Fact Sheet. <u>http://www.cdc.gov/std/syphilis/stdfact-syphilis.htm</u> (Viewed 10/5/15).
<sup>27</sup> Healthy People 2020. Topics and Objectives: Sexually transmitted diseases.

http://www.healthypeople.gov/2020/topics-objectives/topic/sexually-transmitted-diseases/objectives (Viewed 8/24/15).

<sup>28</sup> CDC. (2014). HIV/AIDS: HIV Basics. <u>http://www.cdc.gov/hiv/basics/index.html</u> (Viewed 10/5/15).
<sup>29</sup> Oregon Health Authority. Oregon Immunization Data and Reports.

http://public.health.oregon.gov/PreventionWellness/VaccinesImmunization/Pages/research.aspx (Viewed 5/24/16). <sup>30</sup> Healthy People 2020. Topics and Objectives: Immunization and Infectious Diseases.

http://www.healthypeople.gov/2020/topics-objectives/topic/immunization-and-infectious-diseases (Viewed 8/24/15).